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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

CHRISTOPHER W. FARABEE,
Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 17-CV-02528-JAR-GEB

PERFECTION COLLECTIONLLC, ET AL.,

Defendants.

DEFAULT JUDGMENT

Before the Court are Plaintiff Christoph&/. Farabee’s Motion for Default Judgment
(Doc. 51) and Motion for an Award of Attorné&ges and Costs (Doc. 54). The Court has
reviewed Plaintiff's motions anithe attached exhibits and finttet default judgment should be
entered in favor of Plaintiff and against DefendBerfection Collection LC, and that Plaintiff
should be awarded fees and costs as set forth below.

Plaintiff filed his Petition in this matten the District Courof Wyandotte County,
Kansas on August 28, 2017, alleging violations of thie Geedit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681 et seq (“FCRA”), against Defendants Pedtion Collection LLC (“Perfection
Collection”), Trans Union LLC (“Trans Union"and Experian Information Solutions Inc.
(“Experian”). Plaintiff's Petitbn also asserts claims againstf@gtion Collectiorfor violations
of the Fair Debt Collection Rctices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 169 seq (“FDCPA”). Trans Union
removed this action to this Court on Sapber 12, 2017, and both Trans Union and Experian
filed answers to Plaintiffs’ Complaint in Gutier 2017. Perfection Colléan, however, failed to
answer or appear, and Plaintiff filed an application for clerk’s entry of default on December 18,

2017.
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In an order dated Decemhizd, 2017, the Court denied Plaintiff’'s application for an entry
of default based on its finding that Plaintiffchaot served Perfectiddollection in compliance
with either Federal or state law, and orderedrfiifato effectuate progr service on or before
January 19, 2018.0n January 30, 2018, Magistrate Judge Gwynne E. Birzer extended
Plaintiff's deadline for accontighing service to March 2, 2028Plaintiff then filed proof that
Perfection Collection was sed on February 21, 20£8Shortly thereafter, Plaintiff settled his
claims against Trans Union and Experian, iegWPerfection Collection as the only remaining
defendant in this case.

When Perfection Collection failed to ansveerotherwise appear, &htiff filed a second
application for clerk’s entry of default on Apl18, 2018, and default was entered on April 23,
2018% Plaintiff then filed his motion for defétjjudgment “solely on his claim for damages
under the FDCPA?' Plaintiff seeks statutory damages in the amount of $1,000 pursuant to
§ 1692k(a)(2)(A), post-judgment stigédry interest at the lawfuhte, and his reasonably incurred
attorney fees and costsrpuant to § 1692k(a)(3).

On June 5, 2018, the Court directed Plaintiffilma supplement to his motion for default
judgment setting forth a specific fee reguaccompanied by supporting documentatidn.

response, Plaintiff filed a separate motion foaarard of attorney feeand costs, which is

! Doc. 21.
2Doc. 31.
3 Doc. 40.
4 Doc. 49.

5Doc. 52 at 1. Plaintiff did not seek default judgment on his FCRA claim against Perfectioni@ollect
Thus, on July 5, 2018, the Court issued a Notice and @rd#row cause why Plaintif’ FCRA claim should not be
dismissed with prejudice for lack of prosecution. In response, Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed sck@R
against Perfection Collection on July 16, 2018. Doc. 58.

5 Doc. 53.



supported by a declaration from Plaintiff's coehsilling records, a Kansas Bar Association
Report on the 2017 Economics of Law Practice Suimd§ansas, and documentation of costs.
l. Standard

Following entry of default, Fed. R. Civ. B5(b)(2) allows the court to enter default
judgment. Once default is entered, the defengambt entitled to defend itself on the mefits.
Rather, the court must determine whether thenptfis allegations—taken as true—state a claim
against the defendahtlf the court finds that there is a sufficient basis in the pleadings for
default judgment, that judgment only establislegslity; it does not establish the amount of
damages® The factual allegations in the complaialating to the amount of damages are not
taken as truét Rather, “[dlamages may be awarded ahtjpe record adequately reflects the
basis for [the] award via a hearing or a dematistn by detailed affidavits establishing the
necessary facts!? However, where the damages elad are capable of mathematical
calculation, Rule 55(b)(2) “does not require tthe district courteceive evidence on the

claimed damages amount before entering defaddfment; rather, the Rule simply allows the

" Olcott v. Del. Flood Cg 327 F.3d 1115, 1125 & n.11 (10th Cir. 2003) (citilagkson v. FIE Corp302
F.3d 515, 524 (5th Cir. 2002)) (other citations omittedjt. denied540 U.S. 1089 (2003).

8 Default judgment may only be entered against defesdainom the court determines are not minors or
incompetent persons. Fed. R. CivbB(b). As there is no evidence in tieeord that Defendant—a consumer debt
collection agency—is a minor or an incompetent person, the Court may enter default judgment against it.

9 See, e.g., Kalinich. Grindlay, No. 14-1120-SAC, 2014 WL 3740439, at *1 (D. Kan. July 30, 2014)
(“Even after default, it remains for the court to consider whether the unchallenged facts constitute a legitimate basis
for the entry of a judgment since a part in default does not admit conclusions of law.”) (qiotasyv. Bentwood
Place Apartments, LLQNo. 09-4035-JAR, 2010 WL 2952393, at *4 (D. Kan. July 26, 20T03ng v. Bean600
F. App'x 191, 193-94 (5th Cir. 2015).

10 See, e.g. Hermeris, Inc. v. McBrjéyo. 10-2483-JAR, 2012 WL 1091581, at *1 (D. Kan. Mar. 30,
2012; DeMarsh v. Tornado Innovations, L,Mo. 08-2588-JWL, 2009 WL 3720180, at *2 (D. Kan. Nov. 4, 2009).

1 See, e.g., Kalinicl2014 WL 3740439, at *1 (citinGomdyne |, Inc. v. Corbj908 F.2d 1142, 1149 (3rd
Cir. 1990);Beck v. Atl. Contracting Cp157 F.R.D. 61, 64 (D. Kan. 1994) (citation omittexljperseded by statute
on other grounds as recognized by Cessna Fin. Corp. v. VYWB9BRGE. Supp. 2d 1226, 1233 (D. Kan. 2013).

12 Mathiason v. Aquinas Home Health Care,.Jrk87 F. Supp. 3d 1269, 1275 (D. Kan. 2016) (quoting
DeMarsh 2009 WL 3720180, at *2).



district court to conduct a heag if it believes that additioh&nvestigation or evidence is
necessary?® Here, the Court has adequate infororatbefore it to determine the amount of
default judgment without a hearing.

In his motion for default judgment on his EPA claim against Perfection Collection,
Plaintiff does not seek actual damages, katusbry damages of $1,000 and attorney fees and
costs. Plaintiff alleges the elements necessargttéde a claim for violation of the FDCPA—
namely that he is a consumer as defined by the FDE€B¥tPerfection Collection is a debt
collector as defined by tHEDCPA?™® and that in attempting to collect a déitom Plaintiff,
Perfection Collection engagedam act prohibited by tHeDCPA’

More specifically, Plaintiff alleges that in 2017, Perfection Colleatéported a past-due
balance of $4,291.00 owed by Plaintiff to Medivasion Security on Plaintiff’s credit reports
maintained by Trans Union and Experian, vihéze credit reporting agencies. However,
Plaintiff never signed up for an account withditel-Vision Security, and disputed the improper

balance with Trans Union and Ex@a. When the credit repanty agencies informed Perfection

13 Marcus Food Co. v. DiPanfilgs71 F.3d 1159, 1172 (10th Cir. 2011) (citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2);
Finkel v. Romanowi¢cs77 F.3d 79, 87 (2d Cir. 2009)).

¥ Doc. 1-1, 11 4, 42. The FDCPA defines “consumer” as “any natural person obligated or allegedly
obligated to pay any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

5 Doc. 1-1, 11 43-44. The statdiefines “debt collector” as “any persaino uses any instrumentality of
interstate commerce or the mails in any business the pairirpose of which is the collection of any debts, or
who regularly collects or attempts to collect, directly ornectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due
another. . ..” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

% Doc. 1-1, 11 11-12, 45. Under the FDCPA, a “debt” is defined as “any obligation or alleged obligation
of a consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insuragcdces which
are the subject of the transaction are primarily for personal, family, or household purposes, avimethsuch
obligation has been reduced to judgment.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5).

7 See, e.g., Maynard v. Cannai9l F. App’x 389, 393 (10th Cir. 2010) (“To prevail on a claim under the
FDCPA, a plaintiff must prove that a€bt collector[']s’ effort to collect a ‘ebt’ from a ‘consumer’ violated some
provision of the FDCPA.") (quotinBiper v. Portnoff Law Assocs., Lt®96 F.3d 227, 234 (3rd Cir. 2005)).



Collection that Plaintiff dispetd the debt, Perfection Collemti failed to investigate, but
nonetheless re-verified that the dabt its reportingvere correct.

Plaintiff argues that he has pleaded factshdistaing that Perfection Collection violated
§ 1692f, which prohibits the use ‘afnfair or unconscionable mesuto collect or attempt to
collect any debt.” Specificigl, § 1692f(1) prohibitghe “collection of ay amount . . . unless
such amount is expressly authorized by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law.”
Plaintiff alleges that the dePeerfection Collection sought to caltewas not his d& and was not
owed by him pursuant to any law or agreemand that Perfection Collection continued to
report incorrect information about him to cite@porting agencies fitentionally with the
purpose of coercing Plaintiff to pay the alleged débtThe Court finds that Plaintiff has
pleaded facts sufficient to ebtesh a violation of § 1692f.

Further, although not mentioned in his matifor default judgment, Plaintiff's Petition
also alleges that Defendanblated § 1692e, which prohibitsdabt collector from using “any
false, deceptive, or misleading representatiomeans in connection with the collection of any
debt.” Plaintiff's allegdons establish that after being informibeht Plaintiff disputed the debt to
Medical-Vision Security, Perfectn Collection continued to fadty represent the character,
amount, or legal status of thdgbt in violation of 8§ 1692eJ\) and communicated credit
information that it knew or should hakeown was false in violation of § 1692ef8)Based on

the allegations set forth in Plaifit Petition, the default in thisase establishes that Perfection

181d., 19 12, 49.
191d., 151.

2°Doc. 1-1, 11 13-14, 28-29, 4Blaintiff's Petition also referenc&1692e(5), which prohibits debt
collectors from making a “threat to take any action that cannot legally by taken or that is notindelnel¢éaken.”
However, Plaintiff's Petition is devoid of allegatiorencerning interactions between Plaintiff and Perfection
Collection and any threats Perfection Collection may have made.



Collection violated the FDCPAHaving established liability, theourt now turns to the issues
of damages and other relief.
. Statutory Damages

Plaintiff seeks statutory damages only, eatthan both actual and statutory damages
under the FDCPA. There is no ragment that a plaintiff haveuffered actual damages in order
to recover statutory damages under the?AdRather, statutory damagjare available subject to
the court’s discretio®? Under the statute, the court mashsider, among other relevant factors,
“the frequency and persistence of noncompié&ahy the debt collectathe nature of such
noncompliance, and the extent to whtbe noncompliano&as intentional 2 This case
involves Perfection Collection attemmpy to collect a debt that Plaintiff did not owe. This case
also involves at least two instances of Petibn Collection falsely representing to credit
reporting agencies that Plaiffitbowed that debt—conduct thabald harm Plaintiff’s credit
rating. This conduct is abusive awdrrants a statutory damages aw#rd.

However, both Plaintiff's R&ion and his motion for default judgment are devoid of
specific allegations concernimgpw Perfection Collection attempteo collect the debt beyond
providing false information to credit reportiagencies. Although Plaintiff's counsel has

submitted an affidavit regarding Perfection Collection’s failure to defend this case, Plaintiff has

21 See McCammon v. Bibler, Newman & Reynolds,, B98 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1171 (D. Kan. 2007)
(“[T]he Tenth Circuit has explicitly recognized that, bezmtthe FDCPA provides for liability for attempting to
collect an unlawful debt . . . and permits the recovery of statutory damages . . . in the absence afzagas|d . .
. .actual damages are not required for standing under the FDCPA."”") (qRuto®y v. Shapiro, Marianos & Cejda,
L.L.C, 434 F.3d 1208, 1212 (10th Cir. 2006)) (alterations in original).

2215 U.S.C. § 1692k(a)(2]p'Connor v. Check Rite, Ltd973 F. Supp. 1010, 1020 (D. Colo. 1997).
2315 U.S.C. § 1692k(b)(1).

24 See, e.9., Fagan v. Lagnce Nathan Assocs., In857 F. Supp. 2d 784, 803 (E.D. La. 2013) (finding
statutory damages warranted in addition to actual dasfagasidering Defendant’s refusal to respond to this
lawsuit or any of Plaintiff's efforts to dispute the alleged debt, thereby ensurinpehdisputed debt remains on
Plaintiff's credit score up to seven years, desplaintiff's efforts to resolve the issue.”).



not submitted his own affidavit setting forth fastdficient for the Court to consider the precise
nature of Perfection Collection’s course of conduct. Thus, the Court awards statutory damages
in the amount of $800 rathtran the full $1,000 requestéd.
[11.  Attorney Fees

Plaintiff is entitled to an aard of reasonable attorney fees and costs under § 1692k(a)(3).
In a separate motion for attorney fees ands;ddaintiff submits counsel’s time records and
requests attorney fees in tamount of $11,639.00, representing yefitve hours of work by four
different timekeepers. Plaintiff also seeks $152.50 in costs.

Once a party has established its entitlemefgds, the court must determine what fee is
reasonable. “In determining reasonable attofaey, the court must arrive at a lodestar figure
by multiplying the hours counsel reasonably smenthe litigation by a reasonable hourly rate
and then determine whether the lodestar figgigibject to upward or downward adjustmefit.”
The applicant “bears the burden of estabfigrentitiement to an aavd and documenting the
appropriate hours expended and hourly raté<Once an applicant banet this burden, the
lodestar figure is presusd to be a reasonable f&e.

For the applicant to satisfy its burdenpobving the number of hours reasonably spent on

the litigation, it must submit “meticulous, contemporaneous time records that reveal, for each

25 See, e.g., O'ConnpB73 F. Supp. at 1020 (“To the extent ‘additional damages’ are available in cases
where plaintiff has proven no actiddmages, the award of such additiatemages is left to the court’s
discretion.”);Bartlett v. Heib) 128 F.3d 497, 499 (7th Cir. 1997) (stgtthat “it is within the district court’s
discretion to decide whether and if so how muchvtard, up to the $1,000 ceiling) (citations omitted).

26 Mathiason v. Aquinas Home Health Care,.|ri87 F. Supp. 3d 1269, 1280 (D. Kan. 2016) (cifiage
L. v. Bangerter61 F.3d 1505, 1509 (10th Cir. 1999)jppoldt v. Cole 468 F.3d 1204, 1222 (10th Cir. 2006)
(citing Blum v. Stensq65 U.S. 886, 897 (198Miensley v. Eckerhard61 U.S. 424, 433 (1983)).

27 Mathiason 187 F. Supp. 3d at 1280 (citi@ase v. Unified Sch. Dist. No. 23%7 F.3d 1243, 1249-50
(10th Cir. 1998)).

28 Robinson v. City of Edmoni60 F.3d 1275, 1281 (10th Cir. 1998) (citirgnn. v. Del. Valley Citizens’
Council for Clean Air478 U.S. 546, 563—65 (198&poper v. Utah894 F.2d 1169, 1171 (10th Cir. 1990)).



lawyer for whom fees are sought, all hoursvithich compensation is requested and how those
hours were allotted to specific task8. The prevailing party “shoulchake a good-faith effort to
exclude from a fee request hours that are eskeesredundant, or otheise unnecessary and the
court has a corresponding obliiga to exclude hours not ‘reanably expended’ from the
calculation.® “A district court approads this reasonableness inquiryuch as a senior partner
in a law firm would review the reports of sutlorate attorneys when billing clients . . 3”
“[W]hat is reasonable in a partilar case can depend upon factorshsas the complexity of the
case, the number of reasorabtrategies pursued, and teeponses necessitated by the
maneuvering of the other sid&.”Further, “[a] district couris justified in reducing the
reasonable number of hours if the attorneiytse records are ‘sloppy and imprecise’ and fail to
document adequately how he or sitiéized large blocks of time3®

The Court finds that Plaintiff has failed $sabmit adequate ewadce to support that a
reasonable amount of time was spent on this titgaas to the defaulting defendant, Perfection
Collection. Until Plaintiff's March 27, 2018 setthent with Trans Union and Experian, there
were three defendants in this case, and many of Plaintiff's counsel’s time entries are not specific
to any one defendant despite Rtdf's assertion that “[a]ctiviies which could be specifically

claimed against co-Defendants Trans Union LLC and Experian Information Solutions Inc. have

29 Case 157 F.3d at 1250 (citation omitted).

30 Mathiason 187 F. Supp. 3d at 1280-81 (quotHitis v. Univ. of Kan. Med. Cir163 F.3d 1186, 1202
(10th Cir. 1998))see alsdRobinson 160 F.3d at 1280-81.

31 Caputo v. Profl Recovery Servs., Indlo. 00-4208-SAC, 2004 WL 1503953, at *3 (D. Kan. June 9,
2004) (quotingramos v. Lamn¥13 F.2d 546, 555 (10th Cir. 1988Yyerruled in part on other grounds, Del. Valley
Citizens’ Council for Clean Ajrd83 U.S. at 725).

321d. (quotingRamos 713 F.2d at 554) (alteration in original).
33 Case 157 F.3d at 1250 (quotirdgne L. v. Bangerte61 F.3d 1505, 1510 (10th Cir. 1995)).



been deleted from the Billing Statements.Rather, many of counsebslling entries state very
generally, “emails sent or reviewed,” or “ttex administration,” and these entries are often
attributed to the timekeepdogling at the highest rate’8. The Court assumes that Plaintiff's
settlement with Trans Union and Experian toe&d into account and, in any case, it would be
unfair to permit Plaintiff to collect the entirety these fees from Perféat Collection when the
work performed was in furtherancetbe case against all three defenddhts.

As Plaintiff points out, “[a]n analysis of billg records can help the court to ensure that
counsel demonstrates appropriate billing judgmdrile taking steps tavoid any duplicative
efforts that may inflate time spent.”Having conducted a thorouginalysis of Plaintiff's
counsel’s billing records, the Court will factotarthe lodestar one-third of the time for entries
that pertain to all three deferda, or that are insufficiently detailed to allow the Court to
determine otherwise. The CourtlMactor into the lodestar thfell amount of time entries that
specifically relate to work nessary to perfect service upon Retion Collection, obtain default

judgment, pursue attorney fees and coststlmgrwise prosecute Pidiff's claims against

%4 Doc. 55 at 4-5.
35 Doc 54-3.

36 See, e.g., Xochimitl v. Pita Grill of Hell's Kitchen, Int4-CV-10234 (JGK) (JLC), 2016 WL 4704917,
at *21 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 8, 2016) (noting that “this Court and others have reduced or exattodaelys’ hours that
were expended on matters related to non-defaultifepdants, finding that defaulting defendants are not
responsible for attorneys’ fees related to other, nonditefg defendants in the case and that, where attorneys seek
fees that were billed for services related to both nonudtefg and defaulting defendants, such mixed fees should be
reduced by a percentafje(citations omitted)Top Pearl, Ltd. v. Cosa Freight, IncCivil Action No. H-10-1249,
2013 WL 5575878, at *3 (S.D. Tex. Oct. 9, 2013) (“A party seeking attorney’s fees not only has a duty to segregate
nonrecoverable fees from recoverable fbes it must also segregate the feegdwy different parties.”) (citations
omitted);Colon v. City of New YoriNos. 09 CV 0008(JBW), 09 CV 00009(JBW), 2012 WL 691544, at *23
(E.D.N.Y. Feb. 9, 2012) (“In light of the straightforwardture of the default proceedings against [the defaulting
defendants] and based on the Court’s review of the documentation counsel prepdweskfproceedings, the Court
concludes that there was both redundancy in billirdyextessive billing and therefore respectfully recommends
reducing plaintiffs’ fees by 10% after reduction for hours spent unrelated to the defaultirdpdéseinBeishir v.
Chase Home Fin. LLQNo. 8:07-CV-65-T-27MAP, 2008 WL 533881, at *2 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 27, 2008) (finding that
time entries relating to non-defaulting defendants should not be charged to defaulting defendants).

37 Doc. 55 at 3—4 (citinginchondo v. Andersen, Crenshaw & Assocs.,, 1816 F.3d 1098, 1102 (10th Cir.
2010)).



Perfection Collection. The Court acknowledges Biaintiff's counsel have written off some of
their time in an apparent effort to avoid chaggPerfection Collection fahe entirety of work
performed in furtherance of the case in gendridwever, the Court firglthat the hours billed

still remain unreasonably high for the relatively simple, routine nature of the work performed as
to Perfection Collection.

Calculating the lodestar alsequires the coutb examine the hourly rate requested by
the Plaintiff, which ranges from $175 to $400 peur. In examining the hourly rate, the court is
to refer to the “prevailing markeate in the relevant community®” The relevant community is
the place where the litigation occidPs‘When determining the appradate rate to apply to the
reasonable hours, ‘the district court shouldeb@s hourly rate award on what the evidence
shows the market commands fo . analogous litigation.*® “The moving party bears the
burden to show that the requestates are reasonable, that is, they ‘are in line with those
prevailing in the community for similar services by lawyers of reasonably comparable skill,
experience, and reputatiorf?’ While several courts have reggozed that “[p]aying counsel in
FDCPA cases at rates lower than those they cairoiot the marketplace is inconsistent with the

congressional desire to enfotite FDCPA through private action®the Court also bears in

38 Lippoldt v. Cole 468 F.3d 1204, 1224 (10th Cir. 2006) (quotitaglloy v. Monahan73 F.3d 1012, 1018
(10th Cir. 1996)).

39 Jayhawk Invs. L.P. v. Jet USA Airlines,.IMdo. 98-2153-JWL, 1999 WL 974027, at *4 (D. Kan. Aug.
25, 1999) (citation omitted).

40Weaver v. JTM Performant Recovery,.)i¢o. 2:13-cv-2408-JTM, 2014 WL 4843961, at *9 (D. Kan.
Sept. 29, 2014) (quotingnited Phosphorus, Ltd. v. Midland Fumigant,.|r®05 F.3d 1219, 1234 (10th Cir. 2000));
see alsaCase v. Unified Sch, Dist. No. 23357 F.3d 1243, 1256 (10th Cir. 1998) (“The first step in setting a rate of
compensation for the hours reasonably expended is torde¢ewhat lawyers of conapable skill and experience
practicing in the area in which the litigation occurs would charge for their time.”) (citation omitted).

41 Weavey 2014 WL 4843961, at *9 (quotiriglis v. Univ. of Kan. Med. Cir 163 F.3d 1186, 1203 (10th
Cir. 1998)).

42 Tripp v. Berman & Rabin, P.ACase No. 14-cv-2646-DDC-GEB, 2017 WL 2289500, at *7 (D. Kan.
May 25, 2017) (quotingolentino v. Friedmam6 F.3d 645, 653 (7th Cir. 1995%ge also Dowling v. Litton Loan

10



mind that attorney fees in FDCPA cases shoulddiée so high as to encourage attorneys to
pursue “lackluster” or “dubious” clainfs. In determining a reasonable rate, if the court does not
have before it adequate evidence of prevailing etaies, the court may, in its discretion, “use
other relevant factors, including itsvn knowledge, to establish the rafé.”

To establish that his attorneys’ rates egasonable under thppicable standard,
Plaintiff has submitted the declaration of his leadnsel, A.J. Stecklein, who attests to his own
credentials and those of the attienekeepers whose fees Plaintiff seeks to recover. According
to that declaration, Mr. Stecklein has twenbyf years of litigatiorexperience and, since 2008,
his practice has been primarily devoted@asumer protection cases, particularly cases
involving the FDCPA and the FCRAMr. Stecklein’s partner, Michael H. Rapp, is also an
experienced FDCPA and FCRA attorney withysars in practice. An associate attorney,
Matthew S. Robertson, has two years of expegeand his practice focuses almost exclusively
on individual and class-action cases brought under the FDCPA and the FCRA. Finally, Anne M.
Lamoy is a paralegal with fifteen years of experience.

Plaintiff has also submitte#l Flash Report on the 2017 Economics of Law Practice
Survey in Kansapublished by the Kansas Bar Associatimnestablish the prevailing market
rates in the Kansas City area. This repmitdates that the hourly rates requested for Mr.

Stecklein ($400) and Mr. Rapp ($32&E at the high end of theespirum for attorneys with their

Servicing LR 320 F. App’'x 442, 447 (6th Cir. 20093amacho v. Bridgeport Fin., Inc523 F.3d 973, 981 (9th Cir.
2008).

43 Obenauf v. Frontier Financial Grp., Inc785 F. Supp. 2d 1188, 1214 (D.N.M. 2011) (stating that while
attorney fees in FDCPA cases “shouldddequate to attract competent counsethey should not [be] so large that
it is a windfall for attorneys—who should not be encourageptdw fat off lackluster cases, or pester the court with
trifles in the hopes of capturing largigcgineys’ fees from dubious claims.”).

44 Lippoldt v. Cole 468 F.3d 1204, 1225 (10th Cir. 2006) (citidgse 157 F.3d at 1257%ee also Weaver
2014 WL 4843961, at *9 (“The establishment of hourly rates in awarding attorneys’ fees is within the discretion of
the trial judge who is familiar with the caard the prevailing rates the area.”) (quotingiucero v. City of
Trinidad, 815 F.2d 1384, 1385 (10th Cir. 1987)).

11



years of experience. Mr. Stecklein’s requestéel places him above tménety-fifth percentile
for attorneys practicing consumer law, but abtite eightieth perceihdiacross all practice
classifications for attorneys with twentytt@enty-nine years of experience. Mr. Rapp’s
requested rate places him somewhere in theerahthe ninetieth percentile, both for attorneys
practicing consumer law and attegs with six to nine years @perience practicing across all
areas. The report indicates that the houtly raquested for Mr. dbertson ($215) falls around
the seventy-fifth percentile for attorneys whaoégracticed for less &ém six years across all
practice areas, and slightly below the medide far attorneys practicing consumer law.

While certainly on the high end for Mr. Stedklend Mr. Rapp, the Court finds that the
rates requested for Plaintiff'starneys are within asasonable range for counsel of comparable
experience within the Kansas City commuriityThe Court also finds that the requested hourly
rate for Ms. Lamoy ($175) is reasonable & experienced paralegal.

Applying these rates to the nber of hours reasonably spethte lodestar figure is as
follows.

e For time entries relating to work inrtherance of the case against all three
defendants, and/or for time entries tlaak sufficient detaito differentiate
between defendants: (8.4 hours x $400) + (2.9 hours x $325) + (2.9 hours x $215)
+ (4.8 hours x $175) = $5,766. These hoeedfare reduced by two thirds as
discussed above, for a subtotal of $1,922.

e For time entries that speiélly relate to work acessary to obtain service upon

Perfection Collection, pursue default judgmbh and attorney fees and costs, or

45 See Tripp2017 WL 2289500, at *5 (finding that $400 per hour “reflects the prevailing market rate—
indeed a rate on the high end—for senior attorneys iKansas City area” and awardititat rate to Mr. Stecklein
for his work as class counsel in FDCPA class action).

12



otherwise prosecute Plaintiff's claimgainst Perfection Collection: (2.1 hours x
$400) + (.6 hours x $325) + (17.8urs x $215) + (5.5 hours x $175) =
$5,824.50.

Taken together, the two forgoing subtotadgial a lodestar amount of $7,746.50. “The
lodestar is the presumptively reasonable fée:The product of reasonable hours times a
reasonable rate does not end the inquitgywever, of determining whether a fee is
reasonable?” “A district court may als@onsider a number of other factors when adjusting a fee
upward or downward, including the reasonablenesiseofees in light of the success obtain&d.”
In evaluating the success obtained, “the distrietrt must make a qualitative assessment to
determine what less-than-perfecsutts are ‘excellent,’ justifying furecovery, or to what extent
plaintiffs’ ‘limited success’ shouldffect a reduction in the lodestafThere is no precise rule or
formula’ for making such determination®.”

In this case, Plaintiff sa@unsel achieved good but not exeatl results, largely due to
their failure to fully support Platiff's claim for statubry damages, resulting in an award of $800
rather than the $1,000 requested. Given that falocethe simple nature of Plaintiff's case
against Perfection Collection, the Court findatth twenty percent dection in fees is

appropriate, resulting ia total fee award of $6,197.20.This award is more reasonable—and,

46 Metz v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, In89 F.3d 1482, 1493 (10th Cir. 1994) (citing
Homeward Bound, Inc. v. Hissom Mem’l C863 F.2d 1352, 1355 (10th Cir. 1992)).

47 Chavez v. Thomas & Betts Cqrp96 F.3d 1088, 1103 (10th Cir. 2005) (quotitensley v. Eckerhart
461 U.S. 424, 434 (1983)verruled on other grounds as recognized by Metzler v. Fed. Home Loan Bank of
Topeka 464 F.3d 1164, 1171 n.2 (10th Cir. 2006).

48|d. (citing Hensley 461 U.S. at 434).
49 Jane L. v. Bangertef1 F.3d 1505, 1511 (10th Cir. 1995) (quotitgnsley 461 U.S. at 436).

50 Obenauf v. Frontier Fin. Grp., Inc785 F. Supp. 2d 1188, 1220 (D. N.M. 2011) (awarding $2,500 in
attorney fees rather thaequested $4,883.25 in FDCPA default judgment case because “[w]hen ‘a plaintiff has
achieved only partial or limited success,’ the district canrtalculating an appropriafee award, ‘may simply
reduce the award to account for the limited success.”) (diiegsley 461 U.S. at 436-37).
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in fact, generous—compared to what otharrtohave awarded in similar FDCPA cases
involving default judgment! The Court finds that Plaintiff iglso entitled to $152.50 in costs.

IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT that Plaintiff's Motion for Default
Judgment (Doc. 51) granted and Plaintiff's Motion for Attorey Fees and Costs (Doc. 54) is
granted in part. The Clerk of the Court shall enfjedgment for Plaintiff as follows:

1. $800 in statutory damages for Perfectiorl€ion’s violationof the Fair Debt

Collection Practices Act;

2. $6,197.20 in attorney fees; and

3. $152.50 in costs;
for a total judgment of $7,149.70.

IT 1SSO ORDERED.

Dated: July 19, 2018

S/ Julie A. Robinson
JULIE A. ROBINSON
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

51 See, e.g., Wojtasik v. NeCredit Adjusters, LLCNo. 14-2150-CM, 2014 WL 6879312, at *3 (D. Kan.
Dec. 4, 2014) (awarding $3,000 in attorriegs in FDCPA case involving default judgmenjlanueva v. Account
Discovery Sys., LLZ7 F. Supp. 3d 1058, 1083 (D. Colo. 2015) (awarding $1,385 in attorney fees in FDCPA
default judgment case)enkins v. E. Asset Mgmt., L] Ko. 4:08-cv-1032 CAS, 2009 WL 2488029, at *3 (E.D. Mo.
Aug. 12, 2009) (awarding $3,125 in attorney fees in FDCPA default judgment case).
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